ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED
OCT 17 2013

Appeal from Anderson County

SC Court of Appeals

R. Lawton McIntosh, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

WILLIAM LAUREANO,

APPELLANT

Appellate Case No. 2012-210566

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

WANDA H. CARTER
Deputy Chief Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

The trial judge erred in allowing the jury to hear testimony that appellant's wife divorced appellant on the ground of physical cruelty due to his prior criminal domestic violence conviction while appellant was on trial for the charge of aggravated criminal domestic violence because this constituted prejudicial prior crime evidence that could not have been deemed harmless error.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant William Laureano was convicted of criminal domestic violence of a high and aggravated nature per jury trial held during the March 2012 term of the Anderson County General Sessions Court before Judge R. Lawton McIntosh. Appellant was sentenced to imprisonment for a period of eight years, suspended upon the service of four years and five years probation. Charles L. Anderson and Robert P. Lusk represented appellant at trial.

Appellant appealed his conviction and sentence. This appeal follows.

QUESTION I

The trial judge erred in allowing the jury to hear testimony that appellant's wife divorced appellant on the ground of physical cruelty due to his prior criminal domestic violence conviction while appellant was on trial for the charge of aggravated criminal domestic violence because this constituted inadmissible and prejudicial prior crime evidence that could not have been deemed harmless error.

The indictment lodged against appellant charged him with assaulting Miriam Laureano, who was his wife. At trial, Miriam Laureano and Rachael Laureano, who was appellant's and Miriam's daughter, testified as state witnesses. The remainder of the state's case included the testimony of police officers associated with the case. Killian Laureano, who was appellant's and Miriam Laureano's son, testified on behalf of the case for the defense. Appellant did not testify at trial.

Miriam Laureano testified that on February 2, 2010, she was leaving the house temporarily to get milk when appellant began arguing with her. Laureano stated that at one point during the arguing, appellant pointed a gun at her and threatened to kill her, and that he pushed her and slapped her face also. Then, Laureano stated that when appellant made his exit from the house, she and her daughter, and her daughter's two small children, all of whom were living at this residence, departed from the house, and that she reported the incident to police thereafter. R. 19, l. 4 – R. 42, l. 24. Appellant was arrested later on that same day.

Rachael Laureano Moore, who was present during this incident, testified that she could hear appellant pushing Miriam Laureano and "making threats to her." R. 73, l. 4-25; R. 75, l. 16-20.

Killian Laureano testified at trial and stated that he did not witness any fighting and did not see a weapon on the day in question. Killian also testified that he didn't see any marks or bruises on Miriam Laureano. R. 117, l. 20 – R. 132, l. 1.

Also at trial, Miriam Laureano gave the following prior crime testimony:

Defense Counsel: [the fighting] started three days before this incident? Ya'll just started arguing about everything?

Laureano: Well, he started as soon as he got out of jail the first time [this was presumably for the prior criminal domestic prior].

Defense Counsel: Objection, Your honor

Court: All right. Ladies and Gentlemen, anything that happened before this incident, I'm telling you to disregard that. That's not what this case is about. This case is about the current charges, the facts and circumstances surrounding these current charges and so I order that stricken from the record.

Defense Counsel: Thank you, Your Honor. R. 54, l. 14 – R. 55, l.1.

Defense Counsel: The action for divorce was filed in April of 2010. Does that sound about the time?

Miriam Laureano: Yes, it does.

Defense Counsel: So, that's about, basically, the months from when this incident occurred [February 2, 2010]. Is that correct?

Miriam Laureano: Yes.

Defense Counsel: Do you remember what the grounds were for this divorce?

Miriam Laureano: I think it was CDV, battery or ---

Defense Counsel: Does physical cruelty ring a bell?

Miriam Laureano: Yes.

Defense Counsel: Well, it happened so quickly because you alleged physical cruelty. Correct...

Miriam Laureano: I guess. R. 52, l. 18 – R. 53, l. 20.

Note that the actual divorce decree was entered into evidence as defense exhibit #1, which served to punctuate appellant's prior conviction indeed. R. 52, lines 16-17.

Evidence of a defendant's prior crime cannot be admitted to show that the accused is a bad person or has the propensity to commit the crime charged against him. State v. Martucci, 380 S.C. 232; 669 S.E.2d 598 (2008). A prior crime can only be admitted if used to establish motive, intent, absence of mistake, accident, identity, or common scheme or plan. State v. Spears, 403 S.C. 247, 742 S.E.2d 878 (2013). Moreover, there is a heightened prejudice in admitting a prior crime that is strikingly similar to the one for which the accused is on trial because it suggests that appellant indeed had the propensity to commit the similar crime charged. State v. Colf, 337 S.C. 622; 525 S.E. 2d 246 (2000). Prior crime evidence must be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury. State v. Spears, supra. Unfair prejudice results when there is an undue tendency to make a decision on an improper basis, and also prejudice comes into play when jury's verdict influenced by the challenged evidence. State v. Martucci, supra.

Clearly, appellant's prior criminal domestic violence conviction was made known to the jury. Therefore, based on this prior crime testimony in question, the jury knew that appellant committed at least one prior crime involving physical violence during the marriage and probably surmised that there were other multiple acts of physical violence committed by appellant in this regard. Armed with this information, the jury likely inferred that appellant was probably guilty of the offense of aggravated criminal domestic violence for which he was on trial based on his prior criminal domestic violence conviction. Herein lay the prejudice. Also, appellant was prejudiced by the prior crime evidence because it was not relevant or probative of proof of

whether he was guilty of the offense of aggravated criminal domestic violence for which he was on trial.

Because counsel was very aware of the prejudice of airing appellant's prior conviction for domestic violence, he moved prior to trial to have any such references excluded at trial. Counsel's pre-trial motion was presented as follows:

Defense Counsel: We also have a motion in limine asking the Court to instruct the Prosecution and any witnesses not to mention that Mr. Laureano has a prior record for a CDV from 2010, I believe.

The Court: Is that simple CDV?

Defense Counsel: CDV, first, yes, Your Honor.

The Court: And when is it?

Defense Counsel: 2010. I believe October of 2010. I can get that date for you.

Solicitor: Judge, I have a copy of his certified conviction and I'm, of course, not planning on introducing that. He has a prior CDV charge as well as two assault and battery convictions and, of course, unless he takes the stand or opens the door, I wasn't planning on introducing it.

The Court: Well, as far as that motion then, I'm going to grant the motion with regard to the prior record. Obviously, should the defendant take the stand, there may be some issue then. Also, if they open the door, there may be some issue then. R. 2, l. 22 – R. 3, l. 16.

Likewise, the prior crime evidence in question was not harmless error because the impact of the revelation of appellant's prior conviction on a crime that was nearly identical to the crime for which he was on trial certainly contributed to the jurors' guilty verdict rendered in the case. Error is harmless if it does not contribute to the jury verdict or could not have affected the result of the trial. State v. Mitchell, 286 S.C. 572, 336 S.E.2d 150 (1985). The materiality and

prejudicial character of the error must be determined from its relationship to the entire case. State v. Mitchell, *supra*. Courts will not set aside convictions due to insubstantial errors not affecting the result because this is viewed as harmless, particularly when guilt has been conclusively proven by competent evidence such that no other rational conclusion could have been reached. State v. Martucci, *supra*.