**ORIGINAL**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Anderson County  
Honorable R. Lawton McIntosh, Circuit Court Judge  
Appellate Case No. 2012-210566

---

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

WILLIAM LAUREANO,

Appellant.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

MARK R. FARTHING  
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3727

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

**RECEIVED**

OCT 9 1 2013

SC Court of Appeals

**

## STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Any issue regarding the admission of evidence and testimony related to the grounds for Appellant's wife's divorce from Appellant was not properly preserved for appellate review because defense counsel did not raise any objection to the admission of that evidence and testimony during trial but, instead, elicited testimony on the grounds for the divorce and introduced a copy of the divorce decree as an exhibit. Likewise, any issue regarding the admission of testimony establishing that Appellant was released from jail prior to the incident was not preserved for appellate review because the trial judge sustained defense counsel's objection to that testimony, the trial judge immediately instructed the jury to disregard that testimony, and defense counsel did not object to the sufficiency of the trial judge's curative measures.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In February of 2010, Appellant William Laureano was arrested following an investigation into a domestic incident. In June of 2010, the Anderson County grand jury indicted Appellant for one count of criminal domestic violence of a high and aggravated nature. On March 14, 2012, a jury trial was commenced in the Anderson County court of general sessions with the Honorable R. Lawton McIntosh, circuit court judge, presiding. During trial, the trial judge held Appellant in contempt of court for attempting to make contact with the jurors. At the conclusion of trial, the jury convicted Appellant as indicted. Following the verdict, the trial judge sentenced Appellant to an eight-year term of imprisonment suspended upon the service of four years of imprisonment and five years of probation for the criminal domestic violence of a high and aggravated nature conviction. Additionally, the trial judge sentenced Appellant to a consecutive ninety-day term of imprisonment for contempt of court. Appellant then timely filed a notice of appeal.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

In early 2010, Appellant William Laureano and his wife, Miriam Laureano (“Wife”), lived in Easley, South Carolina, with their son (“Son”), their daughter (“Daughter”), and their daughter’s two young children. (R. pp. 19-20; p. 56; pp. 72-73). During that time period, Appellant and Wife continuously argued with one another. (R. p. 20).

On the morning of February 2, 2010, Appellant began arguing with Wife as she showered and prepared to go get milk. (R. pp. 19-21). When she finished her shower, Wife got dressed and discovered that her wallet, keys, and phone were missing. (R. p. 21). As she searched for her belongings, she asked Appellant for her keys. (R. p. 21). Appellant responded by cursing at her and telling her that he would not give them to her. (R. p. 21). Wife then began looking for her phone and located it between the bed and a wooden post. (R. p. 21). Once she found her phone, Appellant attempted to take it from her. (R. p. 21). When he was unable to do so, he shattered a lamp against the bedroom door. (R. pp. 21-22; p. 24). Appellant then retrieved a loaded .357-caliber revolver from the nightstand, held it in Wife’s face, and told her he was going to kill her, Daughter, and the police officers who came to arrest him.<sup>1</sup> (R. pp. 22-23; p. 72). Following that, he pulled off one of Wife’s shoes and threw it across the room along with some of Wife’s other belongings. (R. p. 23).

Frightened by Appellant’s actions and concerned that her grandchildren would hurt themselves on the debris from the shattered lamp, Wife began to clean up the lamp and other items that Appellant had thrown around the room. (R. p. 23). Wife then retrieved her shoe and began to put it back on. (R. p. 23). When she did so, Appellant

---

<sup>1</sup> Appellant was not legally allowed to possess a firearm at that time. (R. p. 92).

pushed her several times and caused her to fall down and hit her back on the bedframe.<sup>2</sup> (R. p. 23; p. 25). Wife responded by getting up and pushing Appellant back. (R. p. 23). Appellant then slapped her twice in the face “real hard,” grabbed something from the table, and stormed out of the bedroom. (R. p. 23; p. 25).

Shocked by Appellant’s actions, Wife sat on the bed and cried. (R. p. 25). She then got her keys, left the residence with her grandchildren and Daughter, drove to a church, and parked behind it. (R. pp. 26-27; pp. 78-79). Once they were safely hidden behind the church, Daughter called 911 and reported the incident to law enforcement. (R. p. 79).

Following Daughter’s call, Deputy Dustin Williams of the Anderson County Sheriff’s Office was dispatched to the church and met with Wife, who appeared to be terrified. (R. pp. 93-94). Wife informed the deputy that she had been in a physical altercation in her home and was threatened with a gun. (R. p. 94). Deputy Williams then went to Wife’s residence, carefully approached it with another officer, and called out to Appellant through the open front door. (R. pp. 95-96). However, no one inside responded. (R. p. 96). Deputy Williams and the other officer then backed away to wait for additional units, and someone inside of the residence closed the door and turned off the lights. (R. p. 96).

Thereafter, the S.W.A.T. team responded to the scene, and Investigator Todd Caron of the Anderson County Sheriff’s Office made contact with Appellant using the phone. (R. pp. 101-105). During their conversation, Appellant admitted he had a verbal altercation with Wife, acknowledged that he took her keys, and denied physically harming her. (R. p. 105). The S.W.A.T. team then remained at Appellant’s residence for

---

<sup>2</sup> During trial, Wife testified she had scoliosis and Appellant was aware of her condition. (R. p. 24).

several more hours until Appellant eventually surrendered and was arrested for criminal domestic violence of a high and aggravated nature. (R. p. 97; pp. 105-106).

Following Appellant's arrest, officers searched the residence. (R. p. 112). During the search, they discovered several firearm holsters, numerous types of ammunition, a shotgun hidden underneath a futon, and multiple pistols hidden underneath the bottom panel of a dresser. (R. p. 112). However, the officers did not find the gun that Appellant used during the incident. (R. p. 30). Wife then returned to the residence and began cleaning up with Daughter. (R. p. 31). As they cleaned, Daughter discovered the loaded gun that Appellant used in the incident hidden in a shoe inside of a shoebox with clothes piled on top of it. (R. p. 31). Wife then set the gun aside and notified law enforcement of the discovery. (R. p. 32).

Subsequently, Appellant was indicted for criminal domestic violence of a high and aggravated nature, and he proceeded to trial. (R. p. 6; pp. 199-200). At the outset of trial, Appellant moved for the trial judge to instruct the solicitor and the witnesses not to mention Appellant's prior criminal domestic violence charge from 2010.<sup>3</sup> (R. p. 2). In response, the solicitor indicated she did not intend to introduce evidence of the prior charge and would not do so unless Appellant opened the door to it or took the stand. (R. p. 3). Following the arguments of counsel, the trial judge granted Appellant's motion but cautioned the parties that the prior charge could be an issue if Appellant took the stand or if the door was opened to it. (R. p. 3). The trial judge then presented preliminary instructions to the jury, and the solicitor and defense counsel made their opening statements. (R. pp. 4-18). During defense counsel's opening statement, defense counsel

---

<sup>3</sup> During the sentencing proceedings, the details of Appellant's prior convictions were discussed. (R. p. 180). The solicitor and defense counsel confirmed Appellant previously pled guilty to one count of criminal domestic violence and two counts of assault and battery in 2009 as opposed to 2010. (R. p. 180; p. 183). Wife indicated she was not Appellant's victim in regard to those prior charges. (R. p. 180).

asserted that Wife wanted Appellant out of the home and was able to get him out and get a divorce. (R. pp. 17-18). However, defense counsel alleged to the jury that Appellant had not actually threatened or physically harmed wife. (R. p. 18).

Thereafter, as the trial progressed, Wife recounted the details of the incident involving Appellant. (R. pp. 20-27). Then, on cross-examination, defense counsel asked Wife about when she obtained a divorce from Appellant, and she responded that “it was five months after he went in.” (R. pp. 51-52). The following exchange then occurred:

**[Defense Counsel]:** Let me hand you Defense Exhibit # 1, which is a certified copy of the certificate for a divorce. Do you recognize that?<sup>4</sup>

**[Wife]:** Yes.

**[Defense Counsel]:** And that is the decree for divorce where you are divorced from [Appellant]? . . . It says in the decree that ---

**[Trial Judge]:** Before you publish that, any objection to that, [Solicitor]?

**[Solicitor]:** No, sir.

**[Trial Judge]:** Admitted without objection.

**[Defense Counsel]:** Thank you, Your Honor.

(R. p. 52). Defense counsel then began discussing the grounds for the divorce with Wife, and the following exchange occurred:

**[Defense Counsel]:** Do you remember what the grounds were for this divorce?

**[Wife]:** I think it was CDV, battery or ---

**[Defense Counsel]:** Does physical cruelty ring a bell?

**[Wife]:** Yes.

---

<sup>4</sup> Defense Exhibit # 1 was a copy of the divorce decree issued after Wife sought a divorce from Appellant on the grounds of physical cruelty. (R. p. 202). In the decree, the family court judge made a factual finding that Appellant engaged in acts of physical cruelty towards Wife. (R. p. 203). However, the decree contained no details regarding those acts of physical cruelty. (R. pp. 202-204).

(R. p. 53). As the cross-examination of Wife continued, defense counsel questioned Wife about the fact that she was able to obtain a divorce so quickly by alleging physical cruelty. (R. p. 53). Thereafter, defense counsel asked Wife about when she and Appellant began arguing prior to the incident, and Wife responded: “Well, he started as soon as he got out of jail the first time.” (R. p. 54). Following Wife’s response, defense counsel immediately objected, and the trial judge issued a curative instruction to the jury, stating:

Ladies and Gentlemen, anything that happened before this incident, I’m telling you to disregard that. That’s not what this case is about. This case is about the current charges, the facts and circumstances surrounding these charges and so I order that stricken from the record.

(R. p. 54). Defense counsel then thanked the trial judge for the curative instruction. (R. p. 55).

Subsequently, Daughter and the law enforcement officers who responded to the scene testified about the incident and Appellant’s arrest, and the State rested its case.<sup>5</sup> (R. pp. 73-79; pp. 93-97; pp. 102-106; pp. 112-114; p. 116). After the State rested its case, Son testified on behalf of the defense. (R. p. 118). During his testimony, Son indicated he was in his bedroom smoking marijuana with a friend on the day of the incident and could not remember if his parents were arguing on that day. (R. pp. 119-121; p. 132). However, Son stated his mother left around the middle of the afternoon and he saw two officers approached his home a few hours later. (R. pp. 123-125). Upon seeing the officers, Son testified he went to speak with Appellant and Appellant acknowledged that the officers were probably there for him. (R. p. 125). Son stated he then remained in the

---

<sup>5</sup> During Daughter’s testimony, she confirmed she heard the argument between Wife and Appellant and heard Appellant threaten Wife. (R. pp. 73-75).

house with Appellant for several more hours so he could spend time with Appellant before Appellant was taken away. (R. p. 126).

Following Son's testimony, the defense rested its case, and the parties presented their closing arguments to the jury. (R. pp. 140-156). During defense counsel's closing argument, defense counsel urged the jury to consider Wife's credibility and contended that Wife wanted a divorce from Appellant, could only get a divorce quickly by alleging physical cruelty, and, thus, made that exact allegation. (R. pp. 144-146). The trial judge then instructed the jury on the applicable law, and the jury began its deliberations. (R. pp. 156-174). Subsequently, during its deliberations, the jury asked to be reinstructed on criminal domestic violence and criminal domestic violence of a high and aggravated nature. (R. p. 175). When the jury returned to the courtroom to receive the requested instructions, Appellant attempted to show a message to the jury using a notepad. (R. p. 175). In response, the trial judge held Appellant in contempt of court. (R. p. 176). Thereafter, at the conclusion of trial, the jury convicted Appellant as indicted. (R. p. 177). The trial judge then sentenced Appellant to an eight-year term of imprisonment suspended upon the service of four years of imprisonment and five years of probation for criminal domestic violence of a high and aggravated nature and a consecutive ninety-day term of imprisonment for contempt of court. (R. pp. 194-195; p. 198).

## ARGUMENT

**Any issue regarding the admission of evidence and testimony related to the grounds for Appellant's wife's divorce from Appellant was not properly preserved for appellate review because defense counsel did not raise any objection to the admission of that evidence and testimony during trial but, instead, elicited testimony on the grounds for the divorce and introduced a copy of the divorce decree as an exhibit. Likewise, any issue regarding the admission of testimony establishing that Appellant was released from jail prior to the incident was not preserved for appellate review because the trial judge sustained defense counsel's objection to that testimony, the trial judge immediately instructed the jury to disregard that testimony, and defense counsel did not object to the sufficiency of the trial judge's curative measures.**

Appellant contends “[t]he trial judge erred in allowing the jury to hear testimony that appellant’s wife divorced appellant on the ground of physical cruelty due to his prior criminal domestic violence conviction while appellant was on trial for the charge of aggravated criminal domestic violence[.]” (App. Br. p. 3). In support of that contention, Appellant maintains that the jury was improperly informed of his prior criminal domestic violence conviction, which he asserts denied him his right to a fair trial. (App. Br. pp. 7-9). Notwithstanding the fact that no evidence indicating Appellant was previously convicted of criminal domestic violence was presented during trial, any issue regarding the evidence and testimony that Appellant is now challenging on appeal was not properly preserved for appellate review. Regarding the evidence and testimony related to the grounds for Wife’s divorce from Appellant, defense counsel did not raise any objection to the admission of that testimony or evidence during trial. Instead, defense counsel **elicited it** and **introduced it** as part of Appellant’s defense. As a result, Appellant is precluded from complaining about an alleged error that resulted from the admission of testimony and evidence his own defense counsel elicited and introduced. Regarding the testimony related to Appellant’s release from jail prior to the incident, defense counsel’s objection to the admission of that testimony was sustained. The trial judge then instructed the jury

to disregard the testimony, and defense counsel thanked the trial judge for his ruling without raising any additional objections or challenging the sufficiency of the trial judge's curative measures. Accordingly, because defense counsel received all of the relief he requested from the trial judge and did not object to the sufficiency of the trial judge's curative instruction, any error in the admission of the challenged testimony was deemed cured and no further issue was preserved for appellate review. Appellant's conviction should be affirmed.

“Generally, an issue must be both raised to and ruled upon by the trial court in order to be preserved for appellate review.” In re Walter M., 386 S.C. 387, 392, 688 S.E.2d 133, 136 (Ct. App. 2009). In order to properly preserve an issue for appellate review, a defendant must make a contemporaneous objection to a perceived error during trial. State v. Blalock, 357 S.C. 74, 79, 591 S.E.2d 632, 635 (Ct. App. 2003); see also Doe v. S.B.M., 327 S.C. 352, 356, 488 S.E.2d 878, 880 (Ct. App. 1997) (“The duty is on the litigant to make a timely objection in order to preserve the right of review.”). If an error is not presented to and ruled upon by the trial judge, it cannot be raised for the first time to the appellate court. State v. Freiburger, 366 S.C. 125, 135, 620 S.E.2d 737, 742 (2005); see State v. Johnson, 363 S.C. 53, 58-59, 609 S.E.2d 520, 523 (2005) (“If a party fails to properly object, the party is procedurally barred from raising the issue on appeal.”). The appellate court will not consider any issues that were not presented to or passed upon by the trial judge. State v. Fleming, 254 S.C. 415, 421, 175 S.E.2d 624, 627 (1970). “Imposing this preservation requirement on the appellant is meant to enable the lower court to rule properly after it considered all relevant facts, law, and arguments.” I’On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant, 338 S.C. 406, 422, 526 S.E.2d 716, 725 (2000).

Likewise, if a defendant **does** properly raise an issue during trial through a timely objection and the objection is sustained, no issue remains for appellate review unless the defendant requests some relief from the trial judge that is **not** granted. See State v. Sinclair, 275 S.C. 608, 610, 274 S.E.2d 411, 412 (1981) (“Inasmuch as the appellant obtained the only relief he sought, this court has no issue to decide.”); see also State v. Thompson, 304 S.C. 85, 87, 403 S.E.2d 139, 140 (Ct. App. 1991) (“On appeal, Thompson contends the trial judge erred in allowing hearsay identification testimony. The record reveals, however, the trial judge sustained defense counsel’s objections to the testimony of which appellant complains. No motion to strike, no request for instruction that the jury disregard the testimony, nor a motion for a new trial based on the admission of the testimony was made at trial. Appellant has failed to preserve this issue. He obtained the only relief he sought and this court, therefore, has no issue to decide.”). Similarly, a defendant cannot raise an issue on appeal related to an error his own conduct induced. State v. Carlson, 363 S.C. 586, 595, 611 S.E.2d 283, 287 (Ct. App. 2005).

In the case sub judice, Appellant contends on appeal that the trial judge committed reversible error by allowing the jury to hear testimony and evidence related to the grounds for Wife’s divorce from him and to his release from jail prior to the incident. Appellant maintains that the testimony and evidence informed the jury of his prior conviction for criminal domestic violence. Notwithstanding the fact that no evidence indicating that Appellant was previously convicted of criminal domestic violence was ever introduced during trial, any issue with the admission of the testimony and evidence that Appellant is now challenging on appeal was not preserved for appellate review.

Regarding the testimony and evidence related to the grounds for Wife’s divorce from Appellant, defense counsel elicited testimony from Wife that she sought a divorce

on the grounds of physical cruelty shortly **after** the incident with Appellant, which involved threats and physical cruelty, and introduced a copy of the divorce decree to confirm that Wife obtained a divorce on that basis.<sup>6</sup> Because that evidence and testimony was introduced by defense counsel, Appellant cannot permissibly complain about the admission of that evidence and testimony on appeal. See State v. Washington, 315 S.C. 108, 110, 432 S.E.2d 448, 449 (1993) (“Appellant may not now be heard to complain of the admission of evidence elicited by his own counsel.”); see also Carlson, 363 S.C. at 595, 611 S.E.2d at 287 (“A party cannot complain of an error which his own conduct induced.”); State v. Burton, 326 S.C. 605, 613, 486 S.E.2d 762, 766 (Ct. App. 1997) (“This testimony was admitted without objection. Because Burton failed to object, he is barred from raising this issue on appeal.”). Accordingly, any issue related to the admission of the evidence and testimony regarding the grounds for Wife’s divorce from Appellant was not properly preserved for appellate review.

Regarding the testimony related to Appellant’s release from jail prior to the incident, defense counsel contemporaneously objected to the testimony when it was introduced, and the trial judge **sustained** defense counsel’s objection. Thereafter, the trial judge instructed the jury to disregard the testimony and struck it from the record, which cured any error that could have resulted from the admission of that testimony.<sup>7</sup>

---

<sup>6</sup> The apparent purpose of the admission of that testimony and evidence was to impeach Wife’s credibility, which was a key issue in Appellant’s case, by establishing that she had a motive for fabricating the allegations against Appellant, and defense counsel used his closing arguments to call the jury’s attention to the fact that Wife was only able to obtain her divorce from Appellant as quickly as she did by alleging that he engaged in acts of physical cruelty. (R. pp. 144-146).

<sup>7</sup> Furthermore, even assuming that the trial judge had not cured the error, the brief reference to Appellant being released from jail in connection to some unspecified offense was far too vague to be sufficiently prejudicial to warrant the grant of a mistrial or the reversal of Appellant’s conviction on appeal. See State v. Council, 335 S.C. 1, 13, 515 S.E.2d 508, 514 (1999) (finding no prejudice resulted from the admission of testimony establishing that law enforcement already had Council’s fingerprints on record at the time of his arrest for the charged offense); State v. Singleton, 284 S.C. 388, 392, 326 S.E.2d 153, 156 (1985) (finding

See State v. White, 371 S.C. 439, 445, 639 S.E.2d 160, 163 (Ct. App. 2006) (“A curative instruction to disregard incompetent evidence and not to consider it during deliberation is deemed to have cured any alleged error in its admission.”). Following the issuance of the trial judge’s curative instruction, defense did not raise any objection to the sufficiency of the instruction or ask the trial judge to take any additional actions. See State v. Morris, 307 S.C. 480, 486, 415 S.E.2d 819, 823 (Ct. App. 1991) (“No issue is preserved for appellate review if the objecting party accepts the judge’s ruling and does not contemporaneously make an additional objection to the sufficiency of the curative charge or move for a mistrial.”); see also State v. Martin, 155 S.C. 495, 502, 152 S.E. 738, 741 (1930) (“If the appellants wished the judge to say something further to the jury about the testimony, they should have at least requested him to say something.”). Instead, defense counsel simply thanked the trial judge for his ruling. As a result, no issue was preserved regarding the testimony that was stricken from the record following defense counsel’s objection.

On appeal, Appellant seeks to have his conviction reversed based on the admission of testimony and evidence that was either elicited and introduced by defense counsel in Appellant’s defense or stricken from the record. Under those circumstances, no issue has properly been preserved for appellate review, and there is no proper basis upon which to reverse Appellant’s conviction. Appellant’s conviction should be affirmed.

---

an arresting officer's vague references to prior crimes in the jury's presence did not warrant the granting of a mistrial), overruled on other grounds by State v. Torrence, 305 S.C. 45, 406 S.E.2d 315 (1991); State v. Robinson, 238 S.C. 140, 150-151, 119 S.E.2d 671, 676 (1961) (finding testimony by a witness that Robinson told him that he was on the way to the “probation office” did not create an inference that Robinson had been convicted of another crime), overruled on other grounds by State v. Torrence, 305 S.C. 45, 406 S.E.2d 315 (1991); State v. Thompson, 352 S.C. 552, 561, 575 S.E.2d 77, 82 (Ct. App. 2003) (“[A] vague reference to a defendant’s prior criminal record is not sufficient to justify a mistrial where there is no attempt by the State to introduce evidence that the accused has been convicted of other crimes.”).

**CONCLUSION**

For all the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that the judgment and conviction of the lower court be affirmed.